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SUMMARY 

 Lilly Broadcasting of Pennsylvania License Subsidiary, LLC and SJL of Pennsylvania 

License Subsidiary, LLC, licensees, respectively, of television stations WSEE-TV and WICU-

TV (jointly, “SJL Broadcasting”) filed a Complaint and Request for Expedited Enforcement 

Action against Campus Televideo, Inc. (“Campus Televideo”) to address its retransmission of 

SJL Broadcasting’s television broadcast signals to Edinboro University end users without 

consent in violation of Section 325(b) of the Communications Act (47 U.S.C. § 325(b)) and 

Section 76.64(a) of the Commission’s rules (47 C.F.R. § 76.64(a)).  Campus Televideo’s Answer 

includes numerous contradictory statements about its role in retransmitting SJL Broadcasting’s 

signals and fails to provide a credible defense for its unlawful conduct.  Despite the inconsistent 

statements in the Answer, two conclusions are indisputable:  (1) SJL Broadcasting’s signals are 

being retransmitted without licensee consent and without any compensation being paid to SJL 

Broadcasting and (2) the Commission must promptly and thoroughly investigate this matter and 

order appropriate remedies. 

 Campus Televideo’s sole defense to the allegations in the Complaint is that it is a “DBS 

reseller” and is not subject to retransmission consent requirements.  However, whether Campus 

Televideo actually is a DBS reseller remains uncertain due to the various ways in which Campus 

Televideo describes itself in the Answer, in its dealings with SJL Broadcasting, and in public 

statements regarding its business.  Campus Televideo’s characterization of its role regarding the 

video programming services received by Edinboro University end user students has included the 

following:  (1) it is a master antenna television system operator that qualifies for an exemption to 

retransmission consent requirements under 47 C.F.R. § 76.64(e); (2) it only provides 

administrative and technical services to Edinboro University; (3) it is a sales representative for 

DirecTV, a satellite carrier; (4) it is a DBS reseller; and (5) it is a satellite master antenna 
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television (“SMATV”) service provider with its own subscribers.  Campus Televideo’s 

contradictory statements about its role regarding the provision of video programming services 

raise serious questions about its authority to distribute WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals to end 

user students and compels the Commission’s investigation into this matter. 

 Even if Campus Televideo is a DBS reseller, it still must be authorized to retransmit the 

signals of SJL Broadcasting’s broadcast stations to Edinboro University’s end user students.  

Moreover, SJL Broadcasting is entitled to compensation for retransmission of its signals.  The 

authorities and arguments Campus Televideo relies upon to support its assertion that DBS 

resellers are not required to obtain retransmission consent ignore the facts that Campus 

Televideo is providing service to hundreds or thousands of end users and not simply to one 

subscriber (i.e., Edinboro University) and that all MVPDs are required to obtain consent to 

retransmit licensees’ broadcast signals even if those licensees are not required to submit carriage 

election letters to a particular MVPD (such as a SMATV, which Campus Televideo has claimed 

to be).  Campus Televideo also incorrectly asserts that requiring a DBS reseller to obtain 

retransmission consent from broadcast licensees would allow broadcasters to be paid twice for 

the same subscriber.  SJL Broadcasting is only seeking compensation for the retransmission of 

its signals to each end user that receives the signals, which includes each location (e.g., campus 

residence) that receives the signals.  Given that Campus Televideo’s status as a DBS reseller is 

disputed, SJL Broadcasting asks the Commission to use its investigatory powers to seek detailed 

information about the existence and extent of Campus Televideo’s retransmission rights 

regarding WSEE-TV and WICU-TV and to ensure that SJL Broadcasting is receiving the 

compensation to which it is entitled.   
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Lilly Broadcasting of Pennsylvania License Subsidiary, LLC, licensee of full-power 

television station WSEE-TV, Erie, Pennsylvania and SJL of Pennsylvania License Subsidiary, 

LLC, licensee of full-power television station WICU-TV, Erie, Pennsylvania (jointly, “SJL 

Broadcasting” or “Licensees”) by their attorneys and pursuant to Section 76.7 of the 

Commission’s rules, hereby file this Reply to the Answer filed by Campus Televideo, Inc. 

(“Campus Televideo”) on August 23, 2016.   

SJL Broadcasting alleged in its Complaint that Campus Televideo has been 

retransmitting the signals of WSEE-TV and WICU-TV without its consent in violation of 

Section 325(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, (the “Act”) (47 U.S.C. § 

325(b)) and Section 76.64(a) of the Commission’s rules (47 C.F.R. § 76.64(a)).  As detailed in 

this Reply, Campus Televideo’s Answer fails to provide a credible defense for its unlawful 

conduct or offer any valid basis for the Commission to dismiss the Complaint.  Instead, the 

Answer is simply another chapter in Campus Televideo’s ever-shifting story as to why it believes 

it is permitted to retransmit SJL Broadcasting’s television stations without authorization and 
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without compensating the Licensees.  That conduct compels the Commission’s prompt and 

thorough investigation and imposition of appropriate remedies. 

1. Campus Televideo’s Asserted Status as a DBS Reseller Is Inconsistent with How It 
Describes Its Business Operations. 

Campus Televideo claims that it is a “DBS reseller” and that is not subject to 

retransmission consent requirements.1  Despite Campus Televideo’s assertion that it is a DBS 

reseller, the exact nature of Campus Televideo’s relationship with DirecTV (a direct broadcast 

satellite (“DBS”) operator) and the role Campus Televideo plays in providing video 

programming, including local broadcast stations WSEE-TV and WICU-TV, to Edinboro 

University end user students remain unclear.2  Moreover, even if Campus Televideo is a DBS 

reseller (notably, Campus Televideo has made numerous contradictory statements as to whether 

it is a reseller and does not market or otherwise represent itself as reselling DirecTV service or 

any other DBS service), it still must be determined whether the scope of its authority as a DBS 

reseller extends to retransmission of the signals of local broadcast stations, including SJL 

Broadcasting’s broadcast stations, to Edinboro University’s end user students.   

Throughout the Answer, as well as throughout the history of Campus Televideo’s 

dealings with SJL Broadcasting, Campus Televideo has asserted various alternative explanations 

as to why it is authorized to retransmit WSEE-TV and WICU-TV.  In 2006, when SJL 

Broadcasting advised Campus Televideo that it had been retransmitting its signals to Edinboro 

University without consent, Campus Televideo asserted that it was a “Directv dealer and 

generate[d] profit through the sale of Directv programming services and system maintenance 

                                                 
1 See Answer, at 5. 
2 For example, at page 2 of its Answer, Campus Televideo states that its agreement with 
DirecTV does not allow it to resell any DirecTV programming.  At page 4 of its Answer, 
Campus Televideo contradicts itself by stating that it has been an authorized DirecTV reseller. 
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services (considered a SMATV).”3  Campus Televideo further stated that it was providing “off-

air channels only out of necessity and as a courtesy to the school” and referred SJL Broadcasting 

to Section 76.64(e) of the Commission rules as “pertain[ing] to our situation.”4  As explained in 

the Complaint, for Section 76.64(e) (which provides that master antenna television (“MATV”) 

systems can retransmit the signals of local broadcast stations without consent) to be applicable, 

the signals must be made “available without charge.”5  However, shortly after SJL Broadcasting 

confronted Campus Televideo with information from Edinboro University’s website that the end 

user students at Edinboro University were being charged $133.95 per semester for satellite 

television service that included the local signals, the relevant web page was suddenly removed.6  

Notwithstanding the removal of the web page, no evidence has been offered to demonstrate 

either that Edinboro University or any end users received refunds of any amounts paid by them 

to receive programming from Campus Televideo prior to that removal of the webpage, 

specifically, the broadcast signals of the two SJL Broadcasting stations.  Campus Televideo 

asserts in the Answer that the MATV exemption was an “available exemption.”7  However, as 

noted above and in the Complaint, that exemption was not available to Campus Televideo 

because it charged for the service.   

More recently, in 2014, SJL Broadcasting became aware that Campus Televideo had 

been retransmitting WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals to third parties, including Edinboro 

University end user students.  SJL Broadcasting repeatedly advised Campus Televideo in 2015 

                                                 
3 See Complaint, Exhibit 4 (Email from B. Benz to J. Christianson re WSEE/WICU, Feb. 22, 
2006). 
4 Id. 
5 See Complaint, at 4 (citing 47 C.F.R. § 76.64(e)). 
6 Id.; see also Complaint, Exhibit 5. 
7  Answer, at 4. 
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and 2016 that it considered Campus Televideo’s conduct to be an unauthorized retransmission of 

SJL Broadcasting’s signals without consent and asked Campus Televideo to cease and desist 

from this conduct.8  Campus Televideo did not respond to either of those letters nor did it attempt 

to contact SJL Broadcasting.  However, Campus Televideo’s website states that its customers 

(i.e., colleges and universities) qualify for the MATV exemption because they offer television 

programming to all end user students at no charge.  Given Campus Televideo’s failure to respond 

to SJL Broadcasting’s cease and desist letters and its stated reliance upon the MATV exemption 

in the past, SJL Broadcasting reasonably relied on such statements on Campus Televideo’s 

website regarding the MATV exemption when drafting its Complaint.  SJL Broadcasting’s claim 

in its Complaint that the MATV exemption is not applicable to Campus Televideo was based 

upon Campus Televideo’s own conduct and prior communications and is not a “red herring” as 

asserted by Campus Televideo. 

Once again, Campus Televideo has changed its position, stating for the first time in its 

Answer that it is not relying on the MATV exemption as authority for retransmitting WSEE-TV 

and WICU-TV’s signals.  Campus Televideo’s sole defense in this matter is that it is a DBS 

reseller of DirecTV’s satellite service, and as such, does not need to have retransmission consent 

from SJL Broadcasting.  Whether Campus Televideo is actually a DirecTV reseller cannot be 

determined from the contradictory statements contained in its Answer and in its public 

descriptions of its services.9  These facial inconsistencies in Campus Televideo’s statements 

compel investigation by the Commission.   

Campus Televideo’s characterization of its role regarding the video programming 

services received by Edinboro University end user students ranges from purely administrative 

                                                 
8 See Complaint, Exhibit 10. 
9 See, e.g., supra n.2. 
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and technical10 to being a sales representative for DirecTV11 to being a provider of video 

services.12  Campus Televideo (the company which describes itself as a DirecTV reseller) asserts 

that under its “DirecTV SMATV Affiliate Agreement” it is not permitted to resell, retransmit or 

rebroadcast any DirecTV programming,13 yet it represents that it has “approximately 600,000 

subscribers nationwide.”14  Campus Televideo’s “subscribers” include end user students residing 

on university and college campuses nationwide, including those attending Edinboro University, 

who pay for and are receiving video programming delivered by Campus Televideo.15  Campus 

Televideo’s contradictory statements about its role regarding the provision of video 

                                                 
10 See Answer, at 3 (“For over 15 years, CTV has provided administrative and technical services 
under contract to Edinboro University to facilitate provision of video programming to 
dormitories and other campus locations.”).  Campus Televideo states that in its “administrative 
and technical” role it installs and maintains distribution facilities, provides satellite reception 
equipment and responds to customer service requests.  See id. at 3-4.   
11 See Answer at 4 (“as an authorized sales representative for DirecTV, CTV assists in 
arrangements relating to the delivery of the DirecTV service to Edinboro University.”).  Campus 
Televideo further explains that in its “sales representative” role, it sends invoices to Edinboro 
University, collects amounts due, and remits those collected amounts to DirecTV.  See id. 
12 See Complaint, Exhibit 1 (http://campustelevideo.com/customercenter/) (“CTV provides 
SMATV (Satellite Master Antenna TV) services to over 250 colleges and universities 
(“Customers”).”); see also News from Apogee – Apogee Acquires Campus Televideo – 
Becomes Higher Education’s Largest Resnet and Video Solutions Provider, September 3, 2015 
at  http://www.apogee.us/press-release/apogee-acquires-campus-televideo-becomes-higher-
educations-largest-resnet-and-video-solutions-provider/ (Reply Exhibit 1) (“CTV offers tailored 
video services, IPTV and streaming solutions for the delivery of authenticated entertainment, 
educational and custom content.”); Campus Televideo Launches CTVStream, November 2014 at 
http://campustelevideo.com/ctvstream-press-announcement (Reply Exhibit 2) (“Campus 
Televideo “offer[s] tailored cable TV, IPTV and streaming solutions for the delivery of 
authenticated entertainment, educational and custom content.”).  
13 See Answer, at 2. 
14 See Reply Exhibit 2. 
15 Edinboro University includes television programming service as part of the cost for living in a 
residential hall on campus.  See http://www.edinboro.edu/directory/offices-services/res-
life/residence-halls/ (Reply Exhibit 3) (all residences in The Highlands feature cable TV; all 
residences in Earp Hall and Rose Hall include cable TV at no additional charge).  Thus, the end 
user Campus Televideo subscribers are paying Edinboro University for video programming 
service that includes SJL Broadcasting’s signals. 
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programming services to customers residing on college campuses raise serious questions about 

Campus Televideo’s authority to distribute WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals to end user 

students.  SJL Broadcasting requests that the Commission’s investigation into this matter include 

an inquiry into Campus Televideo’s relationship with DirecTV and with Edinboro University 

and its end user students.  

2. Even if Campus Televideo Is a DBS Reseller, Its Authority to Resell DBS Service is 
Conditioned Upon Having the Licensees’ Consent to Retransmit the Signals of SJL 
Broadcasting’s Stations to End User Students and the Licensees Are Entitled to 
Receive License Fees for that Retransmission. 

Although Campus Televideo’s characterizations of itself run the gamut from 

administrative services provider to sales representative to video programming service provider, 

Campus Televideo settles on being a “DBS reseller” to justify its retransmission of WSEE-TV 

and WICU-TV to Edinboro University end user students.  Specifically, Campus Televideo 

asserts that the Commission has determined that DBS resellers are not multichannel video 

programming distributors (“MVPDs”) and, as such, are exempt from retransmission consent 

requirements.16  However, the authority Campus Televideo relies on for this assertion does not 

indisputably lead to a conclusion that Campus Televideo qualifies as an entity that is permitted to 

retransmit local broadcast television signals to paying customers and to receive compensation for 

the transmission of those signals without the licensees’ consent and without compensating the 

licensees. 

First, Campus Televideo references a 23 year old order which held that when a satellite 

carrier relies on an agent to sell broadcast signals on its behalf to home satellite dish (“HSD”) 

households, the satellite carrier, not the agent, is the multichannel video programming distributor 

                                                 
16 See Answer, at 5. 
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and is responsible for obtaining retransmission consent from the broadcast station’s licensee.17  

Campus Televideo is not similar to an agent that resells satellite service that includes broadcast 

signals to HSD households, each of which counts as a single subscriber.  When Campus 

Televideo resells the local broadcast signals as part of a satellite television service to Edinboro 

University or any other university or college, several hundred or several thousand end user 

students are able to view the programming on those signals.  Campus Televideo must have 

authority to retransmit WSEE-TV and WICU-TV to each of those hundreds or thousands of end 

users to whom those signals are provided through Campus Televideo, and SJL Broadcasting is 

entitled to compensation by the distributor for each end user (i.e., each campus residence) 

receiving its signals.  As noted above, student end users (i.e., Campus Televideo’s subscribers) 

are paying for satellite television service that includes SJL Broadcasting’s signals.  Moreover, 

Campus Televideo’s immediate customer — Edinboro University — is paying Campus 

Televideo for programming which includes those broadcast stations.  Whatever role Campus 

Televideo plays in providing that service to Edinboro University, it is not providing its service 

for free.  Similarly, DirecTV is receiving payment for satellite television service that includes 

SJL Broadcasting’s signals.  Thus, the only entity not receiving any payment for the distribution 

of SJL Broadcasting’s signals is SJL Broadcasting.  

Second, Campus Televideo cites to a Commission order regarding the local-into-local 

provisions of the Satellite Home Viewer Improvement Act of 1999 (“SHVIA”) in which the 

Commission directed that satellite carriers obtain retransmission consent in order to deliver local 

television broadcast signals to viewers, and that broadcasters are responsible for notifying 

                                                 
17 See Answer, at 5 (citing Implementation of the Cable Television Consumer Protection and 
Competition Act of 1992, Broadcast Signal Issues, 8 FCC Rcd 2965 (1993)). 
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satellite carriers of their retransmission consent/must-carry elections.18  Campus Televideo relies 

on that Commission order to support its assertion that the fact that broadcasters must only deal 

with satellite carriers and not with DBS resellers when making carriage elections means that 

DBS resellers are not MVPDs as defined by the Communications Act and are exempt from 

retransmission consent.19  This assertion is not supported by the law governing carriage elections 

and retransmission consent.  A television broadcast station licensee is only required to provide 

must-carry/retransmission consent election notices to certain categories of MVPDs, specifically, 

cable operators and satellite carriers.20  However, all MVPDs, including SMATV operators 

(which Campus Televideo has claimed to be), are required by Section 325 of the Act to have 

express authority from a licensee to retransmit the signal of a television broadcast station.  

Campus Televideo states in its Answer that in the fall of 2014 it received “over 170 must-

carry/retransmission consent notices relating to television broadcast signal availability at various 

colleges, universities and similar institutions …,” but that it “has no record of ever receiving a 

must-carry/retransmission consent election from WSEE or WICU for the current cycle.”21  As 

explained above, SJL Broadcasting was not obligated to provide must-carry/retransmission 

                                                 
18 See Answer, at 6 (citing Implementation of the SHVIA of 1999, Broadcast Signal Carriage and 
Retransmission Consent Issues, 16 FCC Rcd 1918 (2000)).  Campus Televideo further notes that 
because a satellite carrier, not a reseller, has a compulsory copyright license for local broadcast 
signals, it is logical for the satellite carrier to be the sole entity to have retransmission consent 
obligations.  See Answer, at 7.  SJL Broadcasting’s Complaint alleges a violation of 
retransmission consent requirements, which are distinct from copyright law.  As such, Campus 
Televideo’s reference to copyright law has no bearing on whether it is required to obtain 
retransmission consent to distribute WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals. 
19 Id.  It is notable that Campus Televideo cites to the statutory definition of MVPD codified at 
47 U.S.C. § 522(13) rather than to the Commission’s definition of MVPD codified at 47 C.F.R. 
76.64(d).  That definition explicitly includes a satellite master antenna television system operator 
in its list of MVPDs.  As stated above, Campus Televideo is a party to a “DirecTV SMATV 
Affiliate Agreement” and describes itself as a SMATV service provider.  See supra p. 5 and 
n.12. 
20 See 47 C.F.R. §§ 76.64 and 76.66. 
21 Answer, at 3. 



9 

consent election notices to Campus Televideo.  Therefore, whether or not SJL Broadcasting 

provided must-carry/retransmission consent election notices to Campus Televideo is wholly 

irrelevant to Campus Televideo’s status as a MVPD as defined by the Commission, and the 

associated statutory and regulatory requirement that it have SJL Broadcasting’s consent to 

retransmit WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals.22       

Campus Televideo further argues that “if both the satellite carrier and the reseller had 

been found to be subject to retransmission consent requirements, not only would broadcasters 

enjoy a windfall double payment, but practical complications would render such an approach 

unworkable.”23  Campus Televideo’s argument that requiring a DBS reseller to obtain 

retransmission consent from broadcast licensees would allow broadcasters to be paid twice for 

the same subscriber or would cause confusion if a broadcaster made different carriage elections 

for the satellite carrier and the DBS reseller is not relevant to the facts underlying the Complaint.  

SJL Broadcasting is not proposing that it receive a “windfall double payment” – one license 

payment from DirecTV and one payment from Campus Televideo for the retransmission of 

WSEE-TV and WICU-TV’s signals.  Pursuant to the Retransmission Consent Agreement 

between SJL Broadcasting and DirecTV, as amended in 2014, SJL Broadcasting is entitled to 

receive a license fee per each subscriber authorized to receive each station’s signal.  Implicit in 

SJL Broadcasting’s allegation that Campus Televideo is distributing its signals without 

                                                 
22 Campus Televideo also asserts that DBS resellers do not meet the statutory definition of 
MVPDs because the entities listed as examples of MVPDs in 47 U.S.C. § 522(13) offer 
transmission paths that cross public rights of way.  This is incorrect because direct broadcast 
satellite services do not rely on public rights of way to deliver programming.  See DirecTV v. 
Tolson, 513 F.3d 119 (4th Cir. 2008).  If DBS providers crossed public rights of way to provide 
video service, they would fall within the statutory definition of “cable system” (47 U.S.C. 
522(7)).  SMATV systems (listed as a MVPD in Commission rule 76.64(d)) also do not use 
public rights of way.  See Annual Assessment of the Status of Competition in the Market for the 
Delivery of Video Programming (Thirteenth Annual Report), 24 FCC Rcd 542, ¶ 139 (2009). 
23 Answer, at 8.   
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retransmission consent is a claim that SJL Broadcasting is entitled to receive license fees for 

Edinboro University end user students that receive the stations through the Campus Televideo 

service.  Receipt of license fees for each subscriber (i.e., for each campus residence receiving the 

stations’ programming from Campus Televideo) would fairly compensate SJL Broadcasting for 

Campus Televideo’s retransmission of its stations’ signals.  However, no compensation for any 

of those Edinboro University end users receiving the broadcast signals is being remitted to SJL 

Broadcasting.  SJL Broadcasting asks that the scope of the Commission’s investigation include 

how Campus Televideo counts and reports the number of subscribers to DirecTV in order to 

determine whether or not SJL Broadcasting is or is not receiving compensation for all end users 

receiving its programming content from Campus Televideo, including those end users residing at 

Edinboro University.   

Finally, SJL Broadcasting is not suggesting that if the Commission agrees that Campus 

Televideo’s claim to be a DBS reseller, then SJL Broadcasting would need to separately notify 

DirecTV and Campus Televideo of its carriage elections and could be subject to different or 

conflicting carriage terms with DirecTV and Campus Televideo.  Rather, if Campus Televideo is 

deemed to be a DBS reseller by the Commission, then there must be assurances that Campus 

Televideo is authorized to retransmit SJL Broadcasting’s stations to end user students.24   

                                                 
24 Furthermore, there must be assurances that Campus Televideo’s retransmission of SJL 
Broadcasting’s signals complies with all applicable Commission rules.  For example, Campus 
Televideo must comply with the Commission’s network non-duplication rules in 47 C.F.R. § 
76.122.  As of April 2016, Edinboro University end users were receiving WSEE-TV (a CBS 
affiliate), as well as KDKA (a CBS affiliate licensed to Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania).  See Reply 
Exhibit 4).  Although a recent TV Listing for Edinboro University no longer lists KDKA (see 
Reply Exhibit 5), SJL Broadcasting understands that KDKA is still being received by Edinboro 
University end users in violation of Section 76.122 of the Commission’s rules.   
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Campus Televideo points out that the Commission recently “reject[ed] a claim of 

unauthorized retransmission consent where the respondent’s status as an authorized DBS reseller 

was undisputed.”25  In that case, SUN Broadcasting, Inc. (“SUN”), the licensee of a commercial 

television broadcast station, alleged that Optical Telecommunications, Inc. (“OptiTel”) was 

retransmitting the signals of Station WXCW to two residential communities without consent.26  

OptiTel had claimed to be a reseller of service provided by DISH, a satellite carrier.27  However, 

at the commencement of that case, OptiTel’s status as a reseller was not undisputed.  As part of 

the investigation of SUN’s complaint, the Commission requested additional information from 

SUN, OptiTel and DISH in an effort to determine whether OptiTel was authorized to retransmit 

SUN’s station.  Through the investigation process the Commission learned that, upon receiving 

SUN’s complaint, OptiTel had examined its rights pursuant to its agreement with DISH, 

determined with respect to one of the residential communities that it did not have rights to 

retransmit local broadcast stations, and promptly modified its agreement with DISH to include 

those retransmission rights and to provide for appropriate compensation to the station licensee.28  

The Commission concluded that for the time period after OptiTel revised its agreement with 

DISH for one of the residential communities to include retransmission rights for WXCW, 

OptiTel was an authorized DBS reseller, but that for all prior time periods it did not have consent 

and must engage in good faith negotiations with SUN to compensate it for unauthorized carriage 

                                                 
25 Answer, at 8-9 (citing Optical Telecommunications, Inc., DA 16-928 (rel. Aug. 15, 2016) 
(“OptiTel”)). 
26 See id. ¶¶ 2-4. 
27 See id. ¶ 10. 
28 See id. ¶ 11.  Due to a lack of documentation for the other residential community the 
Commission was unable to determine if OptiTel retransmitted the television station’s signal 
without consent. 
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of WXCW.29  Importantly, it was only after the Commission determined that OptiTel was an 

authorized DISH reseller with retransmission consent for local stations that the Commission 

could conclude that OptiTel was authorized to retransmit WXCW.  More importantly, the 

resolution of the matter resulted in the station licensee receiving the per subscriber compensation 

to which it was entitled.  Like OptiTel when SUN filed its complaint, Campus Televideo’s status 

as a reseller is disputed.  As such, the Commission should use its investigatory powers to seek 

detailed information about the existence and extent of Campus Televideo’s retransmission rights 

regarding WSEE-TV and WICU-TV.   

REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

 For reasons set forth in this Reply and in the Complaint and Request for Expedited 

Enforcement Action against Campus Televideo, SJL Broadcasting respectfully requests that the 

Commission:  (1) initiate an investigation regarding Campus Televideo’s conduct and take such 

enforcement action as necessary and appropriate to ensure that Campus Televideo ceases its 

unlawful retransmission of the signals of SJL Broadcasting’s television stations; (2) issue an 

order finding that Campus Televideo’s unauthorized retransmission of WSEE-TV and WICU-

TV’s signals violates federal law and Commission rules; (3) issue an order requiring Campus 

Televideo to cease and desist from engaging in such unlawful conduct; and (4) order such further 

relief as the Commission deems necessary and appropriate, including, but not limited to,  

  

                                                 
29 See id. ¶¶ 12-13.  The Commission directed SUN to contact DISH if it believed it had not been 
fully compensated for retransmission of WXCW’s signal since the effective date of OptiTel’s 
revised agreement with DISH which included the right to retransmit local television broadcast 
signals.  See id. ¶ 13. 



determining whether DirecTV is properly compensating SJL Broadcasting for the retransmission 

of its programming to consumers procured for it by Campus Televideo. 

September 2, 2016 

13 

Respectfully submitted, 

Debra McGuire Mercer 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
2101 L Street, N.W., Suite 1000 
Washington, DC 20037 
(202) 331-3100 

Barbara Meili 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
MetLife Building 
200 Park A venue 
New York, NY 10166 
(201) 801-9200 

Its Attorneys 



EXHIBIT 1 

  



NEWS FROM APOGEE

APOGEE ACQUIRES CAMPUS TELEVIDEO – BECOMES 
HIGHER EDUCATION’S LARGEST RESNET AND VIDEO 

SOLUTIONS PROVIDER

Sep 03, 2015

AUSTIN, TX, Stamford, Conn. – Apogee, higher education’s largest provider of residential 

network (ResNet) services, announced today that it has acquired Campus Televideo (CTV), 

the undisputed leader in higher education video services.

Apogee’s acquisition of CTV brings together the two largest providers in ResNet and video 

solutions respectively, resulting in a new combined entity that will offer the most 

comprehensive and advanced networking and video services available in higher education 

today. Together, Apogee and CTV combine almost five decades of experience in serving the 

higher education community. Apogee will meld its proven track record and technology 

leadership in higher education networks with CTV’s video solutions to provide a one-stop 

shop for all ResNet and video solutions.
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CTV, now a division of Apogee, takes the important next step to transition ownership from a 

venture capital-funded company to a privately held company whose sole focus is higher 

education, allowing CTV to significantly generate more value for its university customers 

and industry partners. It will further leverage Apogee’s resources and innovations for 

hundreds of colleges and universities with even higher levels of personalized service, cutting 

edge technology, and flexible options to meet their unique needs.

“Apogee’s acquisition of CTV is a significant milestone and a proud moment for both 

companies. Our new combined entity expands our successful portfolio and brands us as the 

undisputed leader in the higher education technology landscape,” said Chuck Brady, chief 

executive officer of Apogee. “Now, more than ever, as the lines blur between WiFi, data 

networking and video delivery, colleges and universities can count on Apogee’s team of 

experts to help them navigate and stay ahead technologically, bolster their competitive 

advantage and achieve greater student satisfaction and retention.”

Apogee and CTV are committed to a smooth integration, with day-to-day operations, 

current and pending projects to continue as usual for all of Apogee and CTV clients.

About Apogee

Apogee is higher education’s largest provider of on-campus residential networks (ResNet) 

and video solutions. Partnering with Apogee for ResNet services allows colleges and 

universities to enhance their network infrastructure and video services while offloading the 

growing volume of administrative responsibilities associated with managing a student 

network. This partnership allows IT, Business and Housing to focus on the mission-critical 

tasks of the university. Find out why nine out of 10 schools that outsource their ResNet 

choose Apogee at apogee.us (http://www.apogee.us/).

About Campus Televideo

Campus Televideo, a division of Apogee, is the leading provider of video solutions in higher 

education. Unlike the average cable company that offers one-size-fits-all solutions, CTV 

offers tailored video services, IPTV and streaming solutions for the delivery of authenticated 

entertainment, educational and custom content. Campus Televideo provides its clients with 

personalized service, content flexibility and control to meet the unique needs of every 

campus community. Learn more at CampusTelevideo.com (http://campustelevideo.com/).
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CORPORATE

HEADQUARTERS

715 W. 23rd Street

Austin, Texas 78705

Phone: (512) 478-8858

Fax: (512) 478-8873



(https://www.linkedin.com/company/apogee-

inc.)



(https://twitter.com/apogeeinc)
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Stamford, Conn. – Campus Televideo (http://www.campustelevideo.com), the nation’s largest 

integrator of television programming to colleges and universities, announced the launch of 

CTVstream at its Annual Customer Conference that was held in Atlantic City, N.J.  CTVstream 

ensures that streaming content is only delivered to eligible, on-campus students through a 

robust set of authentication and authorization services.

“The launch of CTVstream fills a need of both content service providers looking to ensure that 

their licensing rules are enforced, and institutions meeting the demand from their students to 

offer TV programming on any device, anytime and anywhere on campus,” said Brian Benz, 

CEO of Campus Televideo.  “CTVstream integrates seamlessly with existing campus and service 

CAMPUS TELEVIDEO LAUNCHES CTVstream

Authentication Service to Deliver Premium Content 

to Eligible, On-Campus Students
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provider authentication systems, encrypts all communications to ensure security, and allows 

single sign-on for students to easily access content.”

After successful testing with Fitchburg State University, the company is now widely deploying 

CTVstream to its customers.

About Campus Televideo

Campus Televideo works with more than 250 colleges and universities and has approximately 

600,000 subscribers nationwide. They offer tailored cable TV, IPTV and streaming solutions for 

the delivery of authenticated entertainment, educational and custom content. Campus 

Televideo provides its clients with personalized service, content flexibility and control to meet 

the unique needs of every campus community. Learn more at www.CampusTelevideo.com.

#   #   #

November, 2014

© Copyright 2014 Campus Televideo, Inc.  
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 Campus Directory Offices & Services Residence Life and Housing Residence Halls The Highlands The Highlands

Contact Info

Office of Residence Life & Housing

Pogue Student Center, Room 215

405 Scotland Road

Edinboro, PA 16444

Phone: (814) 732-2818

Fax: (814) 732-2314

Email: boroliving@edinboro.edu

Follow Residence Life & 
Housing

The Highlands 
Edinboro University's premiere residential neighborhood provides 
contemporary single and double occupancy studios, suites and semi-suites 

with the most updated amenities and technology.

The Highlands represent Boro Living at its best. Students may choose from luxury studios, semi-suites and suite 

apartments all with private baths, geothermal heating and air-conditioning, cable TV and wireless internet 

access. All utilities are included.

All residences feature study lounges, kitchen facilities and other amenities, as well as convenient access to 

classrooms, dining and fitness facilities, transportation and campus activities.

The Highlands offers:

• Co-ed living by suite

• First-floor laundry

• Well-appointed community gathering spaces

• Large-screen TVs in common areas

• More than 75 channels of digital cable TV

• Mac and Windows computer stations

• Wired and wireless network access throughout

• 24-hour security

• Lighted sidewalks

• Geothermal heating and cooling

• Convenient parking

• Spacious courtyards

Main Menu

Graduate School Porreco College Information For: Quick Links Support EU Contact Virtual Tour Follow Us Search

Submit Query
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 Campus Directory Offices & Services Residence Life and Housing Residence Halls Traditional Halls

Contact Info

Office of Residence Life & Housing

Pogue Student Center, Room 215

405 Scotland Road

Edinboro, PA 16444

Phone: (814) 732-2818

Fax: (814) 732-2314

Email: boroliving@edinboro.edu

Follow Residence Life & 
Housing

Traditional Halls 
Earp and Rose Halls are Edinboro University’s traditional residence halls, 
popular housing for first-year and returning students.

Earp Hall

Earp Hall consist of three floors of double-occupancy rooms. Featuring built-in furniture and spacious closets, 

this building is popular traditional housing. Earp is home to the University’s Honors Program office and the 

Honors Living-Learning Community. Other features of Earp include:

• Double rooms

• Co-ed housing by wing

• Lounge for programs and activities on each floor

• On-site laundry, vending, mail and computer stations

• Quiet study lounges available on each floor

• Cable TV and internet access at no additional charge

• Limited number of doubles as private rooms may be available

• Kitchen for use by residents

• Smoke detectors and sprinkler system throughout

• Card Access to living areas and night staff residence hall staff on duty 9 p.m. - 6 a.m. daily

• University police patrol campus on foot, bicycle, vehicles

Main Menu

Graduate School Porreco College Information For: Quick Links Support EU Contact Virtual Tour Follow Us Search

Submit Query
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Rose Hall

Rose Hall offers many sought-after amenities, including common kitchen areas, TV lounges, laundry rooms on 

each wing, mail delivery to the hall, an ATM and the popular SkipJacks dining location located on the lower 

level.

• Two students to a room

• Co-ed housing

• Each floor has a lounge where programs and activities are held

• On-site laundry, vending, mail and resident-access computers

• Cable TV and internet access at no additional charge

• Limited number of doubles as private rooms may be available

• Kitchen for use by residents

• ATM on lower level

• ROTC Living–Learning Community

• Night staff on duty 9 p.m - 6 a.m.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the Reply filed by Lilly Broadcasting of 

Pennsylvania License Subsidiary, LLC and SJL of Pennsylvania License Subsidiary, LLC on 

September 2, 2016, was sent by electronic mail and overnight delivery on September 2, 2016, to 

the following: 

Arthur H. Harding, Esq. 
Garvey Schubert Barer 
1000 Potomac Street NW 
Suite 200 
Washington, D.C. 20007 
aharding@gsblaw.com 

Jackie Walker, Esq. 
Campus Televideo, Inc. 
100 First Stamford Place 
Stamford, CT 06902 
jwalker@campustelevideo.com 

Amber Sizemore. Esq. 
University Legal Counsel 
Pennsylvania's State System of Higher Education 
2986 North Second Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17110-1201 
asizemore@passhe.edu 

Brian M. Regan, Esq. 
Vice President and Deputy General Counsel 
DIRECTV 
2260 East Imperial Highway 
El Segundo, CA 90245 
bmregan@dire tv.com 




